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A. INTRODUCTION 

Washington's broad exclusionary rule protects privacy 

and provides a certain remedy when privacy is violated. Our 

narrow attenuation doctrine fits within the broad exclusionary 

rule because it applies only where "a superseding cause severs 

the causal connection between official misconduct and the 

discovery of evidence." This case presents an opportunity to 

decide a question left open in State v. Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d 

871, 434 P.3d 58 (2019), to wit: under what circumstances the 

attenuation doctrine may protect privacy rights without 

permanently immunizing suspects from completely distinct 

investigations and prosecuti_ons. 

Malcolm McGee was arrested for a narcotics violation 

after a police officer observed him selling drugs to Keith 

Ayson. This arrest was later found unlawful, a ruling not 

challenged on appeal. In a completely independent and 

unforeseeable act, McGee murdered Ayson the day after this 
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transaction. Evidence gathered from McGee's arrest was 

ultimately critical to solving Ayson's murder. 

Because McGee's initial arrest was illegal, the trial court 

applied a remedy for the violation of his privacy-it suppressed 

the drugs and dismissed the related VUCSA charge. But the 

trial court permitted use of the evidence against McGee in the 

murder case, finding Ayson's death sufficiently attenuated. The 

Court of Appeals held, however, that evidence from the seizure 

must also be suppressed as to the murder, simply because 

evidence from the seizure was causally connected to the illegal 

arrest. This holding does not follow from existing case law. 

This Court's attenuation cases have dealt only with fact 

patterns where police misconduct is attenuated from the seizure 

of evidence that led to prosecution for the crime of arrest. Here, 

however, the evidence was suppressed as to the original crime 

but allowed as to a completely new and unforeseeable offense, 

one which was attenuated from the initial illegality. This case 

presents an opportunity for this Court to clarify how 
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Washington's attenuation doctrine applies in such 

circumstances. 

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent 

below, respectfully requests that this Court review the 

published decision of the Court of Appeals in State v. McGee, 

No. 83043-1 (May 30, 2023), a copy of which is attached as 

Appendix A. 

C. ISSUE FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

Does Washington's attenuation doctrine allow the State 

to use unlawfully obtained evidence when an independent and 

unforeseeable act later makes it relevant to a different crime? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. JUNE 3RD - ARREST OF MCGEE. 

Keith Ayson and Desiree Burchette were in a dating 

relationship for approximately two years. RP 1658 (4/7/2021). 

They lived together in a Burien apartment until June 2017, 
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when they became homeless. RP 1659, 1704-07 (4/7/2021). 

Ayson and Burchette were both heroin users, and Ayson 

regularly purchased their drug supply from McGee. RP 1673-74 

(4/7/2021); RP 2221-22 (4/14/2021). These transactions usually 

occurred near the Boulevard Park library in Burien. RP 2227-28 

(4/14/2021). 

On June 3, 2017, Detective Hawley was working 

undercover in the Boulevard Park neighborhood when he 

observed Ayson pacing around while anxiously checking his 

cell phone. RP 2308-10 (4/14/2021). A silver Chrysler Sebring 

sedan pulled up and Ayson got into the front passenger seat. RP 

2309 (4/14/2021). The Chrysler drove a short distance and 

pulled over on the side of the road. RP 2313 (4/14/2021). After 

a few minutes, Ayson got out of the car, put a small object in 

his pocket, and walked away. RP 2316 (4/14/2021). 

Believing he had witnessed a drug transaction, Detective 

Hawley followed the Chrysler to a nearby apartment complex 

and detained the driver, who he identified as McGee. RP 2317-
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19 (4/14/2021). Detective Hawley released McGee at the scene 

after he provided his phone number and agreed to become a 

confidential informant. RP 2320-22 (4/14/2021). However, 

McGee never contacted Detective Hawley again. RP 2322 

(4/14/2021). McGee later told an associate that he believed 

Detective Hawley's stop had occurred because Ayson "snitched 

on him." RP 2251 (4/14/2021). 

2. JUNE 4TH - MCGEE MURDERS AYSON. 

Ronald Elliot lived near a dead-end street with a steep 

incline on one side leading down to a forested creek bed. RP 

1411-12 (4/6/2021). On the afternoon of June 4, 2017, Elliot 

noticed two Black males walking away from a silver Chrysler 

sedan parked near his home. RP 1412-13, 1420, 1424 

(4/6/2021). Shortly after the men walked out of view, Elliot 

heard gunshots and then saw the Chrysler speed away a few 

minutes later. RP 1417-25, 1485 (4/6/2021). Elliot called 911 at 

approximately 4 p.m. to report hearing gunfire, but responding 
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officers cleared the scene after finding no obvious signs of 

violence. RP 1427, 1492-1500 (4/6/2021). 

In the following weeks, Elliot began noticing a foul and 

increasingly strong odor emanating from the ravine, which he 

initially assumed was from food waste or a dead animal. RP 

1430-31 (4/6/2021). On July 11, 2017, Elliot went down to 

investigate and discovered a human body, which he quickly 

reported to 911. RP 1171 (4/5/2021); RP 1431-33 (4/6/2021). 

Responding officers found a heavily decomposed corpse 

that was "on its way to being . . .  skeletonized." RP 1235 

(4/5/2021). The decedent was wearing a jacket with obvious 

bullet holes, and detectives recovered three .40 caliber shell 

casings near the body. RP 1188, 1241, 1261 (4/5/2021); RP 

1850, 1879-81, 1937-41 (4/12/2021); RP 2079, 2108 

(4/13/2021). The identity of the body was initially surmised 

using cards found in Ayson's wallet, and later confirmed 

through dental records. RP 1282, 1244-47 (4/5/2021); RP 1811 

(4/8/2021). Ayson' s pockets also contained a cellular phone and 
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$137.54 in cash. RP 1242-47 (12/5/2021). Medical examiners 

later observed three gunshot wounds to Ayson's chest and 

recovered a bullet from his abdominal cavity. RP 1279-99, 

1309 (4/5/2021); RP 1956-57 (4/12/2021); RP 2119 

(4/13/2021). 

Using various records, the date of Ayson's death was 

estimated to be June 4, 2017, because that was when "all 

activity associated to Mr. Ayson ended." RP 2053 (4/12/2021). 

Ayson's EBT card, through which he received State be�efits, 

ceased activity after the morning of June 4th, despite having a 

substantial available balance. RP 1626-30, 1640 (4/7/2021). 

Ayson's cellular phone made no outgoing calls after 

approximately 3:30 p.m. on June 4th. RP 2051-53, 2427-31 

(4/12/2021). On June 8th, Ayson's phone connected to a cell 

tower near where his body was eventually found to receive an 

incoming call, suggesting he was already dead by that time. RP 

2436 (4/15/2021). 
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Detectives searched a police database to detennine 

Ayson' s associations and discovered his connection to McGee 

from the record of Detective Hawley's narcotics stop. RP 1943, 

1966 (4/12/2021); RP 2498-99 (4/19/2021). They then noted 

that McGee owned a silver Chrysler sedan consistent with 

Elliot's observations. RP 1947 (4/12/2021). 

Police records also led investigators to contact Burchette. 

RP 1948-49, 1964-65 (4/12/2021). Burchette was acquainted 

with McGee through Ayson, and she confirmed McGee's 

identity using a photograph. RP 1665 (4/7/2021); RP 1987 

(4/12/2021). Burchette told police that shortly before Ayson 

disappeared, McGee had offered her a ride and then 

propositioned her for sex. RP 1662, 1673 (4/7/2021). Offended, 

Burchette exited McGee's car and walked away. RP 1673-77 

(4/7/2021). 

Burchette soon found Ayson by the library and told him 

what had happened, which made Ayson "very mad." RP 1678 

(4/7/2021). Ayson immediately called McGee to discuss the 
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incident. RP 1679 (4/7/2021); RP 1765 (4/8/2021). Burchette 

saw McGee pick Ayson up and drive away, which was the last 

time she ever saw Ayson alive. RP 1680-81 (4/7/2021). 

Sometime after Ayson disappeared, a witness recalled 

conversing with McGee and discussing a rumor that Ayson "got 

beat." RP 2237 (4/14/2021). McGee corrected him, saying "I 

heard he got shot." RP 2237 (4/14/2021). This was significant 

because the police had not publicly released the cause of 

Ayson's death, and McGee's knowledge thus strongly 

suggested his involvement. RP 1961 (4/16/2021). McGee 

appeared to be happy that Ayson was dead. RP 223 8 

(4/14/2021). 

On August 1, 2017, McGee was arrested, and his car and 

cellular phone were seized pending a search warrant. RP 1860-

65 (4/12/2021). Assuming the arrest was solely for failing to 

perform as a confidential informant, McGee stated that he did 

not contact Detective Hawley because "the person he was going 
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to provide information on had been murdered." RP 2508 

(4/19/2021). 

Detectives later obtained search warrants for both McGee 

and Ayson's cellular data. RP 2356 (4/15/2021). Relevant to 

this petition, the warrant for McGee's cellular data relied on 

information gleaned as a direct result of Detective Hawley's 

unlawful seizure. 

The records showed that Ayson called McGee twice on 

June 4th, before his cellular activity ceased. RP 2375 

(4/15/2021); RP 2530-31 (4/19/2021). Although McGee 

normally used his phone frequently throughout the day, he sent 

no text messages from approximately 3 to 6 p.m. on June 4th. 

RP 2629 (4/19/2021). At around 6:30 p.m. that evening, McGee 

texted a friend that he had "just got into some shit" and then 

texted his girlfriend that he was "going through something way 

more important than any [woman]." RP 2648, 2653 

(4/20/2021). 
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Cellular location data showed that Ayson and McGee's 

phones were both near the Boulevard Park library on the 

afternoon of June 4th. RP 2424 (4/15/2021). At around the 

same time Elliot called 911 to report hearing gunshots, 

McGee's phone connected to sector 2 of tower 84883 1 , which 

was located approximately ¼ mile from the ravine where 

Ayson's body was eventually found. RP 2437-38 (4/15/2021); 

RP 2532-33 (4/19/2021). This is the same tower Elliot's phone 

had connected to when he called 911 on June 4th. RP 2616 

(4/19/2021). Investigators later confirmed that this tower and 

sector provided service by the ravine. RP 2443 (4/15/2021). 

McGee's phone did not connect to tower 84883 at any 

other time on June 4th. RP 2533 (4/19/2021). Based on the 

1 Each cellular tower provides coverage in a full 3 60-degree 
radius, divided into three 120-degree sectors. RP 2403 
(4/15/2021); RP 2525 (4/19/2021). Analyzing tower data can 
show which sector of the tower a phone connected to at any 
particular time. RP 2525 (4/19/2021). A phone will generally 
connect to whichever sector has the strongest signal. RP 2404 
(4/15/2021). 
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tower's coverage area, it was essentially impossible that the call 

could have been made from McGee's nearby apartment 

complex because there was another tower that was much closer 

and had a clearer line of sight. RP 2439-41, 2479 (4/15/2021); 

RP 2584-88 (4/19/2021). Investigators attempted to obtain a 

signal from tower 84883 from the apartment complex as a test 

and were unable to obtain service. RP 2439 (4/15/2021). 

McGee's first trial ended in a hung jury. RP 1821 

(8/21/2019). He was later convicted of second-degree murder 

upon retrial. CP 5 3 4. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT'S ATTENUATION 

RULING SUPPRESSED EVIDENCE FROM 

THE JUNE 3RD ARREST AND 

TERMINATED THE DRUG PROSECUTION, 

BUT ALLOWED EVIDENCE TO PROVE 

THE MURDER. 

McGee moved to suppress the June 3rd arrest at his first 

trial, arguing that Detective Hawley did not have reasonable 

suspicion to justify an investigatory detention. RP 547 

(7/31/2019). The trial court granted McGee's motion, finding 
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that Detective Hawley's observations were innocuous and that 

the stop was essentially based on a hunch. RP 553-54 

(7/31/2019). As a result, the court suppressed th� drugs found 

on McGee's person and dismissed a second count charging him 

with drug possession. RP 5 85 (7 /31/2019). 

The defense team at McGee's first trial did not challenge 

the various search warrants. RP 718 (3/29/2021). Defense 

counsel at McGee's second trial, however, argued the warrants 

were invalid because they relied on facts from Detective 

Hawley's unlawful detention to establish probable cause. RP 

719 (3/29/2021). 

The trial court denied McGee's motion to suppress, 

finding the investigation into Ayson' s death sufficiently 

attenuated from Detective Hawley's unlawful detention: 

The attenuation doctrine is applicable in this case. 
The murder of Keith Ayson, the investigation into his 
murder and the discovery of his body and cell phone 
were completely unforeseeable intervening actions that 
were separate from the June 3, 2017 stop and severed the 
causal connection between the misconduct on June 3, 
2017 and the discovery of the cell phone evidence. 
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CP 548; RP 962-66 (3/30/2021).2 

4. THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSED. 

The Court of Appeals concluded that the attenuation 

doctrine did not apply because Detective Hawley's stop, from 

which information necessary to the murder investigation was 

obtained, was the underlying unlawful act itself, as opposed to 

new information for which the unlawful seizure was a distant 

but-for cause. McGee, 83043-1 at 11. It therefore concluded 

that any information obtained by Detective Hawley was 

irredeemably tainted. This holding invalidated the initial search 

warrant for McGee's cellular data, which had a domino effect 

on all subsequent warrants and rendered his conviction 

untenable. 

The State now seeks this Court's review of the Court of 

Appeals' attenuation doctrine analysis. 

2 The trial court also ruled that the independent source doctrine 
applied. However, the State did not pursue this argument on 
appeal, and it is not relevant to the present petition. 
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E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

RAP 13 .4(b) permits review by this Court if, inter alia, 

the decision below raises a significant question of constitutional 

law or involves an issue of substantial public interest. The error 

below satisfies both criteria. 

1. THE SCOPE OF WASHINGTON'S 

ATTENUATION DOCTRINE IS A 
SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL 

ISSUE THAT IS CURRENTLY 

UNDERDEVELOPED AND HAS NEVER 

BEEN APPLIED IN THIS CONTEXT. 

The "attenuation doctrine" is compatible with the greater 

protections of our state constitution because Washington's 

exclusionary rule "does not operate on a strict 'but for' 

causation basis." Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d at 882. Accordingly, 

evidence can still be admitted in some circumstances even 

· where it "likely would not have been discovered but for a prior 

article I, section 7 violation." Id. 

Finding the federal doctrine overly broad, however, this 

Court established a "narrow, Washington-specific attenuation 
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doctrine, to be applied only where the State proves that 

unforeseeable intervening circumstances truly severed the 

causal connection between official misconduct and the 

discovery of evidence." Id. at 895. Under Mayfield, evidence 

derived from an underlying constitutional violation remains 

admissible "[w]hen an independent, intervening act of a third 

person .. .  which was not reasonably foreseeable" breaks the 

"causal connection" between police misconduct and the 

discovery of evidence. Id. at 897. 

The State did not challenge the trial court's finding that 

Detective Hawley's detention of McGee was unlawful, or that 

the information gleaned therefrom was essential to the search 

warrants executed by law enforcement. Rather, the issue for this 

Court's review is entirely one of law -whether the attenuation 

doctrine can be applied to information gained using an unlawful 

source when the underlying tainted evidence becomes relevant 

in a new and unforeseeable way. 
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Mayfield itself does not answer this question. Mayfield 

was unlawfully detained but gave permission for police to 

search his truck, where narcotics were discovered. 192 Wn.2d 

at 899. The State argued the drugs were admissible despite the 

unlawful seizure because Mayfield's voluntary consent to 

search was sufficiently attenuating. Id. 

This Court disagreed, concluding that attenuation did not 

apply because Mayfield's consent was a direct and foreseeable 

product of the unlawful police action. The present case is 

different. Unlike Mayfield's consent to search, McGee's 

decision to murder Ayson was logically and temporally 

removed from any police coercion -it was an "unforeseeable 

act[] of independent free will," not a natural consequence of 

Detective Hawley's seizure. Id. 

The Court of Appeals focused on language from 

Mayfield stating that "[t]here must be some proximate causal 

connection between official misconduct and the discovery of 

evidence for the exclusionary rule to apply." 192 Wn.2d at 891 
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( emphasis added). Based on the bolded phrasing from 

Mayfield, the Court of Appeals concluded that attenuation 

could never render the "original, illegal, June 3 discoveries" 

usable; rather attenuation could only apply to "new discovery." 

McGee, No. 83043-1 at 11-12. 

These facts represent a novel application of 

Washington's attenuation doctrine, but not an expansion of it. 

The fundamental purpose of Washington's exclusionary rule is 

to protect privacy and provide an appropriate remedy. In 

response to the violation of McGee's privacy, the court below 

both suppressed the narcotics evidence and terminated the drug 

prosecution based on the privacy violation that occurred. 

But while Washington's exclusionary rule is meant to 

prohibit the use of evidence proximate to an illegality, it also 

permits the prosecution to present information that is remote or 

attenuated from a constitutional violation. The facts here 

present such a situation, and this permutation has never before 

been considered by Washington courts. This is, essentially, a 

- 18 -
2306-15 McGee SupCt 



"reverse attenuation," whereby an instance of misconduct can 

become so attenuated by subsequent events that a proximate 

causal connection to the later prosecution no longer exists. 

Again, applying "reverse attenuation" does not mean 

lessening the protections described in Mayfield. The critical 

elements of attenuation described in that case - "unforeseen 

intervening circumstances" -must still be present. Furthermore, 

attenuation would still not apply if the intervening act was a 

·natural consequence of the official misconduct. 

When the court suppressed the narcotics and dismissed 

the drug prosecution against McGee, it essentially excluded the 

consequences of the investigation that were foreseeable, and 

thus unattenuated, from subsequent events. Detective Hawley's 

investigation only became newly relevant due to McGee's 

extraordinary, unforeseen, and intervening decision to murder 

Ayson. Because past events can only be re-evaluated upon the 

occurrence of an independent and unforeseeable act, 
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applications of the attenuation doctrine like this one will be 

exceedingly rare. 

The Court of Appeals reading of attenuation would 

ultim�tely create a variation of the strict but-for causation rule 

that Mayfield rejected. It is also inconsistent with longstanding 

Washington precedent, which has already recognized in other 

contexts that official misconduct can become legally actionable 

in light of subsequent events. Observations made during an 

unlawful seizure, for example, can still be used to prosecute a 

defendant for subsequently eluding or assaulting the officers 

who effected the illegal detention. State v. Aydelotte, 35 Wn. 

App. 125, 133, 665 P.2d 443 (1983); State v. Mierz, 72 Wn. 

App. 783, 794, 866 P.2d 65 (1994); State v. Brown, 40 Wn. 

App. 91, 96, 697 P.2d 583 (1985). 

This Court has not substantively addressed Washington's 

attenuation doctrine since Mayfield. With a dearth of precedent 

to guide it, the Court of Appeals overgeneralized Mayfield 

when applying it to, a very different and rarely occurring factual 
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context. This Court should grant review to define the scope of 

Washington's attenuation doctrine, and whether it permits the 

use of tainted evidence when intervening and independent acts 

have made it relevant in novel ways that could not possibly 

have been foreseen when the official misconduct occurred. 

2. WHETHER TAINTED POLICE 
INVESTIGATIONS CAN EVER BE 
SALVAGED IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL 
PUBLIC INTEREST BECAUSE IT COULD 
RESULT IN CONVICTED MURDERERS 
GOING FREE. 

As the State conceded, Detective Hawley's initial 

investigation was necessary to the finding of probable cause for 

the initial search warrants into McGee's cellular data. If that 

warrant is suppressed, the subsequent warrants also fail. 

Without this evidence, McGee may well escape accountability 

for murdering Ayson. 

While this would obviously be a tremendously impactful 

result in this case, it would also have much larger implications. 

Of course, a constitutional violation is not excusable merely 
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because the consequences of reversal are serious. See State v. 

Shoemaker, 85 Wn.2d 207, 213, 533 P.2d 123 (1975) (Utter, J., 

dissenting). However, this Court has generally declined to 

impose rules that render criminal investigations void ab initio, 

thus permanently immunizing the defendant. 

The holding from McGee renders every piece of 

information in government databases a potential ticking time 

bomb, no matter how far removed its collection might be from 

any ultimate employment in a criminal investigation. Police 

conducting routine checks for phone numbers and associations 

in computer databases will have to first evaluate the 

constitutional sufficiency of every piece of information, lest it 

reach forward in time and allow a murderer to go free. The 

Washington constitution does not compel such a sweeping 

result so completely disconnected from cause and effect. 

- 22 -
2306-15 McGee SupCt 



F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully 

requests this Court grant review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision in this case. 

This document contains 3,305 words, excluding the parts 

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18 .1 7. 

DATED this 27th day of June, 2023. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

LEESA MANION (she/her) 
King County Prosecuting Attorney 

COBS, WSBA #46394 
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
Office WSBA #91002 
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Appendix A 



F I LED  
5/30/2023 

Court of Appeals 
D ivision I 

State of Wash ingto n  

IN  THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASH INGTON ,  

Respondent, 

V. 

MALCOLM OTHA MCGEE 

Appel lant. 

No. 83043-1 - 1  

DIVIS ION ONE  

PUBL ISHED OP IN ION  

BIRK, J .  - As the State acknowledges , a sheriff's deputy unconstitutional ly 

seized Malcolm McGee , questioned h im,  searched h im ,  and col lected h is phone 

number and other information.  I n  a later murder investigation ,  the State re lied on 

the evidence it had unconstitutional ly gathered to connect McGee to the crime and 

obtain at least fou r  warrants for h is phone records, cel l  site location information ,  

and , among other th ings, h is arrest, a l l  lead ing to McGee's conviction for second 

degree murder. The State asks us to hold under Washington's attenuation 

doctrine  the homicide attenuated the ta int of the deputy's unconstitutiona l  conduct. 

Because the State fa i ls to show attenuation ,  we reverse .  

A 

On June 3 ,  20 1 7 , King County Sheriff's Deputy Alexander Hawley, whi le 

working  as a plainclothes narcotics detective , observed a man ,  later identified as 

Keith Ayson , pacing back and forth on the sidewalk. Hawley observed Ayson 



No.  83043-1 -1 /2 

continual ly look down at a cel l  phone and then look around the area as if waiting 

for someone. A s i lver Chrysler Sebring approached , and Ayson got into the front 

passenger seat. The veh icle d rove approximately one b lock, then stopped on the 

side of the road. After no more than two minutes, Ayson exited the Chrysler. 

Hawley saw Ayson put someth ing smal l  into h is pocket. Ayson walked back 

towards where he had been . 

Hawley fo l lowed the Chrysler to an apartment complex. Hawley cal led for 

backup support. Detective Hawley put on h is marked exterior sheriff's vest, exited 

h is veh icle at "about the same t ime" the d river "exit[ed] h is veh icle." Hawley d id 

not recogn ize the d river. Hawley "announced [h imself] as law enforcement and 

ordered [the d river] to stay in  the veh icle . "  

Detective Hawley made contact with the d river. The d river identified h imself 

as Malcolm McGee . Before June 3 ,  201 7 ,  Hawley had never met or  seen McGee . 

Hawley ordered McGee out of the veh icle and provided M iranda 1 warn ings.  

Hawley expla ined he had "just watched" the interaction with Ayson and asked 

McGee , "[W]here's the dope?" McGee i n it ia l ly said it was a l l  gone,  but then 

produced a "bagg ie" of cocaine.  Hawley asked to search McGee's car. McGee 

g ranted permiss ion . Hawley fou nd a bag fil led with smaller baggies. McGee said 

Ayson was his suppl ier, and he had purchased the cocaine from Ayson during the 

interaction Hawley observed.  Hawley invited McGee to "work off" h is possession 

charge by entering into a confidential i nformant agreement to provide information 

1 M iranda v.  Arizona ,  384 U .S .  436 ,  86 S. Ct. 1 602, 1 6  L .  Ed . 2d 694 (1 966) .  
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and conduct a contro l led buy. McGee signed a written agreement. McGee 

p rovided Hawley with h is phone number. McGee never contacted Hawley. 

Hawley retu rned to h is orig inal  location to look for Ayson .  Hawley found 

Ayson and i nterviewed h im.  Ayson said he knew McGee as "T J . "  Ayson reported 

he had purchased cannabis from T J .  Accord ing to Ayson ,  he had known T J for 

about two months, and regularly bought cocaine and cannabis from h im.  He 

den ied being a d rug dealer. Ayson d id not have any i l legal d rugs on h is  person . 

He also did not have any items of contraband suggesti ng he was sel l ing d rugs, 

and he had no money. 

Hawley showed McGee's latest King County Jai l booking photo to Ayson , 

who confirmed McGee was the person he knew as T J .  Hawley concluded McGee 

was the dealer and had fabricated the story about Ayson .  H awley p laced a report 

from th is incident into a pol ice database . Later, Hawley completed a certification 

for determination of probable cause and McGee was charged with Violation of the 

Un iform Contro l led Substances Act (VUCSA) . 

B 

The next day ,  June 4 ,  20 1 7 , witness Ronald El l iott called 91 1 .  E l l iott l ived 

on a dead-end street adjacent to a forested creek bed . E l l iott testified he saw two 

men walking away towards the dead-end and a car he estimated was about a 2000 

Chrysler, s i lver or  s i lver-gray, with t inted windows .2 After an unknown period of 

2 We acknowledge the existence of inconsistencies between El l iott's and 
another witness's reports , but these inconsistencies a re not material to our  
ana lysis concern ing the information H awley learned from M cGee du ring the J une 
3 stop.  

3 



No.  83043-1 -1/4 

t ime, E l l iott heard gunshots and called 9 1 1 .  With in minutes of hearing the 

gunshots ,  El l iott saw the s i lver car drive away. Po lice responded to El l iott's 9 1 1 

cal l ,  arriving between 4 :25 p .m.  and 4:29 p .m .  The police searched the forested 

creek bed but found noth ing amiss. 

C 

On Ju ly 1 1 ,  201 7 ,  after investigating a concern ing odor, E l l iott d iscovered a 

body in the forested creek bed . Responding pol ice recovered a wal let conta in ing 

Ayson 's identification with the body. The King County Med ical Examiner's office 

later confirmed identification of the body as Ayson .  Pol ice found a phone with the 

body and recovered its SIM (subscriber identity modu le) card , but cou ld not 

otherwise access the phone's contents . 

With in 1 5  minutes of d iscovering Ayson's identification ,  a detective 

searched for Ayson's name in a pol ice database. This inqu i ry produced Hawley's 

report of h is interaction with McGee and Ayson on J une 3, 201 7 . The report 

i ncluded McGee's name, h is phone number and h is association with the Chrysler 

he was driving  on June 3 ,  20 1 7 . A search for McGee's number in the database 

found another report showing McGee was investigated on March 1 3 , 201 7 . A later 

search of Facebook for McGee's phone number led to McGee's Facebook p rofi le. 

Although the record does not ind icate when , officers i nvestigating the death also 

spoke to Hawley about the June 3 stop .  

The search for Ayson's name in the database identified Desiree Burchette 

as con nected to h im. On Ju ly 1 1  and Ju ly 1 9 , 201 7, po l ice interviewed Burchette, 

who stated Ayson was her boyfriend . During the Ju ly 1 9  i nterview, they showed 
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Burchette a photograph of McGee from a ja i l  booking database. Bu rchette said , 

"That's h im" and identified McGee as Ayson's d rug dealer. Burchette testified that 

McGee had once p icked her up near the same location where Hawley had seen 

him with Ayson .  She stated she recogn ized McGee by h is hairstyle and car and 

as "the guy that [Ayson] got in the car with a l l  the time." She had observed McGee 

with Ayson numerous times over four  or five months.  

On Ju ly 1 3 , 201 7 , pol ice obtained a warrant for service provider records for 

two phone numbers :  the phone number associated with the S IM  card found with 

Ayson's body and , relying on information from the June 3 stop ,  the phone number 

Hawley had obta ined from McGee. On Ju ly 26, 20 1 7, pol ice received responsive 

records with cal l  data for Ayson 's and McGee's phones. These records ind icated 

the last two outgoing calls from Ayson's phone had been p laced to McGee's phone 

on June 4 at 3 :20 p.m. and 3 :43 p.m. The records included cell site location 

information suggesting both phones were in the same vicin ity at 3 :43 p .m . ,  the 

vicin ity of Hawley's Ju lie 3 observation of McGee and Ayson .  The cel l  s ite location 

information showed that at 4 :07 p .m . ,  McGee's phone connected to a cell tower 

approximately one quarter mi le from the place where Ayson's body was found .  

Between 4 :09 p .m.  and 4 : 1 1 p .m . ,  McGee's phone received several cal ls 

connecting th rough  the same cel l  tower. H is phone did not connect to that tower 

any other time that day. 

Relying  on information obtained during the June 3 stop and the Ju ly 1 3  

warrant, pol ice obtained subsequent warrants :  for service provider records of 

phone numbers that cal led McGee's phone around the time of the J une 4, 201 7  

5 



No.  83043-1 -1 /6 

9 1 1 cal l ;  for search ing the apartment of McGee's g irlfriend ,  the s i lver Chrysler 

Sebring ,  McGee's cel l  phone, and another vehicle associated with McGee;  and for 

add itional service provider records for McGee's phone,  a cel l  phone belong ing to 

McGee's g irlfriend , and to search a third veh icle associated with McGee . 

On August 1 ,  20 1 7 , pol ice obtained a warrant to arrest McGee based on the 

VUCSA charge stemming from the June 3 stop.  McGee was not told he was the 

subject of a homicide investigation .  After the arrest, and whi le pol ice were 

transporting McGee, McGee stated he had not cal led the other detective back 

because the person he was going to provide i nformation on had been murdered . 

While being interviewed , McGee acknowledged h is ce ll phone number, the Ju ne 

3 interaction with Ayson ,  and speaking by phone with Ayson the next day. McGee 

den ied meeting Ayson on June 4, 201 7 ,  and invoked h is right to counsel when 

confronted with the cel l  site location information . 

D 

McGee's first trial ended in  a hung jury. McGee was convicted of second 

degree murder at a second tria l .  During McGee's first tria l ,  the court ruled that 

Hawley did not have reasonable articu lable suspicion for the June 3 stop .  The 

State does not chal lenge this rul ing. The tr ial cou rt suppressed reference to the 

d rugs Hawley found when search ing McGee in the June 3 stop and the arrest. On 

McGee's motion and without objection by the State , the tria l court d ismissed the 

VUCSA charge.  The pretria l  motions and evidentiary ru l ings from the first tria l  

remained in effect for the second .  

6 



No.  83043-1 - 1/7 

Before his second tria l ,  McGee moved to suppress evidence from the 

warrants ,  inc luding the Ju ly 1 3 , 201 7  warrant and the subsequent warrants. The 

trial cou rt den ied this motion , conclud ing the causal chain between the June 3 stop 

and the warrants was "severed by the murder of Keith Ayson that occu rred after 

the stop of June 3rd and the ensuing investigation ." The trial court concluded 

McGee's "privacy rights were protected by d ismissing the items that were d i rectly 

the resu lt of the i l legal detention . "  McGee also moved to suppress the identification 

made by Burchette . The tria l  court admitted the photo identification because , 

although it was impermissib ly suggestive, it d id not create a substantial l ike l ihood 

of i rreparable mis identification .  

I I  

Article I ,  section 7 of the Washington constitution states i n  part ,  "No person 

shall be d istu rbed in  [their] p rivate affa i rs . . .  without authority of law." Wash ington 

courts apply an exclusionary ru le for evidence obta i ned in violation of th is 

provis ion . State v .  Mayfield , 1 92 Wn .2d 871 , 888-89,  434 P .3d 58 (20 1 9) .  The 

attenuation doctrine is a recogn ized exception to exclusion and appl ies ,  genera l ly, 

when the connection between official misconduct and the d iscovery of evidence 

may " 'become so attenuated ' " as to d issipate the ta int of the misconduct and a l low 

the evidence to be used despite the misconduct playing a ro le in  its d iscovery. See 

Wong Sun  v. Un ited States , 371 U .S .  471 , 491 , 83 S .  Ct. 407, 9 L .  Ed . 2d 441 
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( 1 963) (quoting Nardone v. U n ited States , 308 U .S .  338, 341 , 60 S .  Ct. 266 , 84 L .  

Ed . 307 (1 939)). 

Article 1 ,  section 7 is more protective of p rivacy than the Fou rth Amendment 

of the Un ited States Constitution .  Mayfield , 1 92 Wn.2d at 878. Wash ington follows 

a "nearly categorica l" ru le of excluding from trial evidence obtained in violation of 

article 1 ,  section 7, with "no exceptions that rely on speculation , the l ikel ihood of 

deterrence, or the reasonableness of officia l m isconduct." kl at 888.  The "narrow, 

Washington-specific attenuation doctrine" appl ies " if, and on ly if, an unforeseeable 

interven ing act genu inely severs the causal connection between official 

misconduct and the d iscovery of evidence." kl at 897-98. To determine whether  

an intervening act i s  sufficiently attenuating , Wash ington looks to the tort law 

doctrine of supersed ing cause. kl at 897. Under this standard ,  when " 'an 

independent, interven ing act of a th ird person is one wh ich was not reasonably 

foreseeable then there is a break in the causal connection between the . . .  

negl igence and the . . .  injury. ' " kl at 897 (quoting Schooley v. P inch's Del i  Mkt . ,  

I nc . ,  1 34 Wn.2d 468 , 482 , 951 P .2d 749 ( 1 998)) . 

" [T]he 'theoretical underp inn ing of an intervening cause wh ich is sufficient 

to break the orig inal chain of causation [i .e . ,  constitute a supersed ing cause] is the 

absence of its foreseeability. ' "  Campbel l  v. ITE Imperial Corp. , 1 07 Wn .2d 807, 

8 1 3 , 733 P .2d 969 ( 1 987) (alteration in orig i nal) (quoting Herberg v, Swartz, 89 

Wn .2d 9 1 6 ,  927, 578 P .2d 1 7  ( 1 978)) .3 "Reasonable foreseeabil ity does not 

3 Campbel l  identifies nonexclusive factors i n  assessing the foreseeabi l ity of 
an al leged interven ing act, includ ing , "whether ( 1 ) the i nterven ing act created a 
different type of harm than otherwise would have resu lted from the actor's 
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requ ire that the precise manner or sequence of events in which a plaintiff is harmed 

be foreseeable . . . .  ' [ l ]f the l ikel ihood that a th ird person may act in a particu lar 

manner is . . .  one of the hazards which makes the [defendant] negl igent, such an 

act whether innocent, negl igent, intentional ly tortious, or criminal does not prevent 

the [defendant] from being l iable' for the injury caused by the defendant's 

negl igence."  Albertson v. State , 1 91 Wn . App. 284, 297, 361 P .3d 808 (201 5) 

(some a lterations in orig inal) (quoting Campbel l ,  1 07 Wn.2d at 8 1 3) .  "[ l ]nterven ing 

criminal  acts may be found to be foreseeable,  and i f  so found ,  actionable 

negl igence may be pred icated ,  thereon ." McLeod v. Grant County Sch . Dist. No .  

1 28 ,  42  Wn.2d 3 1 6, 321 -22 , 255  P.2d 360 (1 953) (supersed ing cause was fact 

question for jury where school d istrict created unsupervised place of concealment 

in wh ich student raped another) .4 When an act of misconduct is fol lowed by a 

subsequent criminal act, the subsequent act is not a superseding cause based 

neg l igence; (2) the intervening act was extraordinary or resulted in extraord inary 
consequences; (3) the intervening act operated independently of any situation 
created by the actor's negl igence." 1 07 Wn2 .d at 8 1 2- 1 3 (citi ng RESTATEMENT 
(SECOND) OF TORTS § 442 ( 1 965)) .  

4 Accord Christen v. Lee , 1 1 3 Wn .2d 479 , 492-93498, 780 P .2d 1 307 ( 1 989) 
(crimina l  assau lt not a foreseeable resu lt of fu rn ishing intoxicating l iquor to 
obviously intoxicated person ,  un less d rinking establ ishment had notice of 
possib i l ity of harm from prior actions of the person) ;  Wh itehead v. Stringer, 1 06 
Wash.  501 , 505-06 , 1 80 P .  486 ( 1 9 1 9) (King County sheriff's deputy may be l iable 
in tort based on having reason to know arrestee's veh icle wou ld be criminal ly 
vandal ized after warrantless arrest) ; Johnson v. State , 77 Wn. App .  934, 942 , 894 
P .2d 1 366 ( 1 995) ("A criminal  act may be considered foreseeable if the actual harm 
fel l  with in a general fie ld of danger which should have been anticipated.  The court 
may determ ine a criminal  act is unforeseeable as a matter of law on ly if the 
occurrence is so h igh ly extraord inary or improbable as to be whol ly beyond the 
range of expectabi l ity. Otherwise , the foreseeabi l ity of the criminal  act is a 
question for the trier of fact.") . 
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mere ly on its being crimina l ,  but wi l l  be a supersed ing cause on ly if it is not 

foreseeable as that term is used in  tort law. 

Washington decisions have in  some cases a l lowed evidence d iscovered 

after an i l legal  search that came to l ight because of a new event-in these cases 

a new voluntary act by a person other than law enforcement. In State v. Ch i ld ress , 

35 Wn . App .  3 1 4, 3 1 5 ,  666 P .2d 941 ( 1 983) , pol ice in  Cal iforn ia  conducted an 

i l legal search and d iscovered the defendant's Washington d river's l icense , a bank 

check showing an  Everett, Wash ington address , and a photograph of two nude 

g irls . kl Cal iforn ia  officers forwarded the i nformation to Everett pol ice,  who 

canvassed the neighborhood around the address and located the parents of one 

of the g i rls in  the photograph .  kl The parents made a general ,  nonsuggestive 

inqu i ry of their daughter, who d isclosed sexual  involvement with the defendant .  kl 

at 3 1 5-1 6 .  Under the attenuation doctr ine, the daughter's new, voluntary 

d isclosure was the cause of the new d iscovery of her testimony. kl at 31 7., 

Other Washington decisions have concluded new acts of free wil l  by the 

defendant attenuated the taint of earl ier official misconduct. In State v. Rousseau , 

40 Wn.2d 92, 95-96, 241 P .2d 447 ( 1 952) , overru led on other grounds by State v .  

Valentine ,  1 32 Wn.2d 1 ,  935 P .2d 1 294 ( 1 997) , after an  i n it ia l  i l lega l  search and 

detention ,  a deta inee pushed an  officer into the path of an oncoming car, g iving 

the officer a new and legal  justification to arrest the deta inee and lawfu l ly perform 

a search incident to arrest. I n  State v. M ierz ,  72 Wn . App .  783, 794-95 ,  866 P.2d 

65, 875 P .2d 1 1 28 ( 1 994) , aff'd ,  1 27 Wn .2d 460,  90 1 P .2d 289 ( 1 995) , after an 

i n it ial i l legal entry by officers , the defendant in itiated assau lts on the officers and 
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the cou rt al lowed evidence of the assau lts . I n  State v. Aydelotte , 35 Wn . App. 1 25 ,  

1 27 ,  1 32, 665 P .2d 443 ( 1 983), after an  i l legal entry, the defendant brandished a 

weapon towards approach ing officers ,  and the court al lowed evidence of these 

assau lts . 

The State points to the homicide of Ayson as a supersed ing cause of pol ice 

d iscovering the evidence Hawley learned from McGee du ring the June 3 stop ,  

argu ing the homicide was "an independent act of free wi l l  that was not influenced 

by any suggestion or coercion from law enforcement." But the State points to no 

new d iscovery of the information Hawley learned du ring the June 3 stop .  Hawley's 

J une 3 stop was the cause of the State's d iscovery that day of McGee's name, h is 

phone number, h is stated reasons for associating with Ayson,  and h is possession 

of cocaine and d rug paraphernal ia .  The homicide that the State bel ieves occurred 

the next day, J une 4 ,  20 1 7, was not a cause of any of the State's J une 3, 20 1 7  

discoveries. The later recovery of Ayson's body led the State to look again at its 

June 3 ,  201 7  d iscoveries, but it d id not cause those d iscoveries to occur. The 

homicide was not a cause of the d iscovery of evidence in the June 3 stop ,  and was 

not an i nterven ing act amounting to a supersed ing cause. 

Recognizing the homicide came after its June 3 d iscoveries , the State 

argues the attenuation doctrine appl ies because the June 4 homicide was the 

cause of its "derivative use" of its June 3 d iscoveries . Mayfield is clear, however, 

there must be a superseding cause severing the causal connection "between" the 

officia l  misconduct and "the d iscovery" of the evidence.  1 92 Wn.2d at 895-96. The 

State i nvokes the attenuation doctrine to justify using its o rig ina l ,  i l legal June 3 
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d iscoveries , rather than a new d iscovery attributable to a new, supersed ing cause. 

The State cites no case applying the attenuation doctrine in  th is manner. The State 

fai ls to show attenuation as defined in Mayfie ld al lowing the use of the information 

Hawley i l legal ly d iscovered from McGee on June 3 ,  20 1 7 .5 

The State last argues its recogn it ion of the re lationsh ip between McGee and 

Ayson after recovering Ayson's body "merely spurred a separate investigation that 

was conducted by d ifferent personnel ,  served an un related pu rpose, and occu rred 

much later than Detective Hawley's i n it ia l detention ." The tria l  court concl uded , 

"Detectives found McGee's phone number in  their database from a March 20 1 7  

contact"-a contact whose legal ity is not questioned before this court-"and from 

a search of McGee's pub l ic Facebook profile."6 Separate from the June 3 stop ,  

the State d iscovered Ayson's SIM card , obtained the records associated with that 

S IM card , from those records learned the last number d ialed from Ayson's phone 

and that it was d ia led twice on the afternoon of June 4, 201 7 , near in  t ime to the 

5 The State arg ues that Hawley's i l lega l  seizure and search were not the 
"legal cause" of the d iscoveries he made that day, referring to the lega l  causation 
prong of the tort proximate cause rule. The State's brief then tu rns to cases 
analyzing superseding cause. Th is coming les d ifferent doctrines. The tort doctrine 
of legal  causation is re levant to establ ish ing a causal con nection . "The focus in  
the legal causation analys is is whether, as a matter of  pol icy, the connection 
between the u ltimate result and the act of the defendant is too remote or 
insubstant ial to impose l iab i l ity. A determ ination of lega l  l iab i l ity wi l l  depend upon 
'mixed considerations of logic, common sense , justice , pol icy, and precedent. ' "  
Schooley, 1 34 Wn .2d at 478-79 ( interna l  quotation marks omitted) (quoting King 
v .  C ity of Seattle ,  84 Wn .2d 239, 250 , 525 P .2d 228 ( 1 974)) . The question the 
attenuation doctrine poses under Mayfie ld is whether  an existing causal 
connection between the official m isconduct and the d iscovery of evidence was 
severed by an interven ing act amount ing to a supersed ing cause. 

6 These conclusions were in  connection with the tria l  cou rt's ana lys is of the 
independent source doctrine .  The State does not rely on the independent source 
doctrine on appeal .  Therefore we do not address it .  
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9 1 1 cal l ,  learned the number was associated with McGee based on the March 

201 7 encounter and Facebook entries , and learned Ayson's drug dealer, known 

as ''T J" d rove a si lver Chrysler. These circumstances were not causes of the 

State's June 3 d iscoveries from McGee. The State's argument amounts to an 

inevitab le d iscovery argument, because, through Ayson's phone records and othe r  

evidence, "the police wou ld have d iscovered" McGee's identity and connection to 

Ayson "notwithstand ing the violation of [McGee's] constitutiona l  rights" in the June 

3 stop.  State v .  Winterste in ,  1 67 Wn .2d 620, 634, 220 P .3d 1 226 (2009) . But  the 

inevitab le d iscovery exception to the exclusionary rule is inconsistent with article 

1 ,  section 7 because it " is necessari ly speculative and does not d isregard i l lega l ly 

obta ined evidence . "  kl That Ayson's information wou ld have led to McGee is 

insufficient. 

The State says it is " unnecessary" to " ind iv idual ly ana lyze[] each search 

warrant and [McGee's] August 1 ,  201 7 ,  arrest," because "Hawley's detention was 

a cause-in-fact for this entire body of evidence. "  "Thus , "  the State says , "the 

admiss ib i l ity of each portion depends on the answer to the same lega l  question , "  

that i s ,  the appl ication of  the attenuation doctrine.  We u nderstand the State to 

concede that if Hawley's June 3 d iscoveries from McGee cannot be used under 

the attenuation doctrine, then each subsequent warrant fai ls .  I n  l ight of Mayfield 

and Winterste i n ,  it is necessary to suppress the June 3 d iscovery of McGee's 

name, h is phone number, his stated reasons for associating with Ayson,  and h is 

possession of cocaine and d rug paraphernal ia .  Because each subsequent warrant 

inc lud ing the August 1 ,  201 7 a rrest warrant depended on this information for 
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probable cause, it is necessary to suppress the i nformation learned from these 

warrants ,  includ ing McGee's custod ial statements on August 1 ,  201 7 .  The State 

does not contend there was "untainted evidence admitted at tria l" that was "so 

overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a find ing of gu i lt." State v. E lwel l ,  1 99 

Wn.2d 256, 270, 505 P .3d 1 0 1 (2022) . We therefore reverse McGee's conviction . 

I l l  

After the trial court ruled the June 3 stop unconstitutional and suppressed 

evidence of the cocaine, d rug paraphernal ia ,  and the arrest, the State made a 

motion argu ing evidence of the J une 3 stop and information d iscovered du ring the 

stop should be admitted as motive evidence supporting the murder charge .  The 

State's theory at tria l was that McGee thought Ayson "had 'sn itched ' on h im" and 

had "set h im up ," and McGee ki l led Ayson believing Ayson "was responsible for 

h is arrest and may also be working with police." The tria l  court g ranted the State's 

motion . The trial court del ineated the scope of its ru l ing as fo l lows: 

I am,  agai n ,  exclud ing any statements attributed to M r. McGee that 
would have been made to the detective. I am excluding any 
contraband object that would have been found in Mr. McGee's 

. possession or  found in h is car. 
I am not excluding the fact that the detective observed Mr. 

McGee or the person who he later identified to be Mr. McGee , what 
happened . And I 'm not excluding the fact of the [confidentia l  
informant] agreement. 

McGee chal lenges the admission of evidence related to the June 3 stop for the 

purpose of showing motive , a rgu ing there is no such exception to the exclusionary 

ru le. 
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We agree with McGee there is no "motive" exception to the exclusionary 

ru le . But we perceive a d istinction between the evidence Hawley obta ined i l legally 

during the J une 3 stop, and information he learned that day d istinct from the i l legal 

seizure and search. "U nder the l imits on survei l lance establ ished by ou r  case law, 

a pol ice officer's visual survei l lance does not constitute a search if the officer 

observes an object with the una ided eye from a non intrus ive vantage point . "  State 

v. Young. 1 23 Wn .2d 1 73 ,  1 82 ,  867 P .2d 593 (1 994) . Hawley's d iscovery on June 

3 of  McGee's name, h is phone number, h is stated reasons for associating with 

Ayson,  and h is possession of cocaine and drug paraphernal ia stemmed from the 

i l legal seizure of McGee and the subsequent search . But to the extent not the 

resu lt of the i l legal seizure and search , Hawley's testimony concern ing the events 

of June 3, 201 7  is not subject to exclusion Under article 1 ,  section 7, and to the 

extent not excluded may be used by the State to establ ish motive . Provided 

evidence obtained in violation of article 1 ,  section 7 is suppressed , the trial cou rt 

on remand is in  the best posit ion to determine the admiss ib i l ity of other  evidence 

relevant to motive . 

IV 

McGee next asserts the trial court erred by admitting the ident ification by 

Bu rchette . We d isagree. 

When reviewing the denia l  of a CrR 3.6 suppression motion , we review the 

tria l  court's find ings of fact for substantial evidence and its conclusions of law de 

novo . State v. Derri , 1 99 Wn.2d 658 , 676, 51 1 P.3d 1 267 (2022) (reviewing tria l  

court's appl ication of Manson v. Brathwaite ,  432 U .S .  98, 1 1 6 ,  97 S .  Ct. 2243,  53 
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L. Ed . 2d 1 40 ( 1 977)) .7 "The presentation of a s ing le photograph is , as a matter of 

law, impermissibly suggestive ." State v. Maupin ,  63 Wn. App. 887, 896 , 822 P.2d 

355 ( 1 992) .  "However, impermissible suggestiveness may not constitute a 

violation of due process. Rather, [a] cou rt must review the total ity of the 

circumstances to determine whether that suggestiveness created a substantial 

l ikel ihood of i rreparable misidentification." kl at 896-97 (citation omitted) .  This is 

determined by considering four  factors : the opportun ity of the witness to view the 

crimina l  at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention , the accuracy of 

thei r  prior description of the crim inal , the level of certainty demonstrated at the 

confrontation ,  and the time between the crime and the confrontation .  kl (cit ing 

Brathwaite , 432 U .S .  at 1 1 4) . The identification of a suspect by an acquaintance 

does not ra ise the due p rocess concerns that arise when an eyewitness 

identification is ta inted by suggestive procedures. State v. Col l ins ,  1 52 Wn . App. 

429, 436, 2 1 6  P .3d 463 (2009) . 

The trial court analyzed each of the Brathwaite rel iabi l ity factors. The court 

ruled , "Even though [the identification] in itially was suggestive , it does not show a 

substantial l ike l ihood that there would be i rreparable misidentification . "  The court's 

conclusion was based on evidence includ ing the testimony of detectives who 

interviewed Burchette and a transcript of an interview of Burchette conducted by 

Greg Walsh ,  a private i nvestigator for the defense. This evidence showed 

7 CrR 3.6(b) requ i res trial courts to enter written find ings of fact and 
conclusions of law. The trial cou rt d id not do so here .  However, such an error is 
harm less " if the court's oral  findings are sufficient to allow appellate review." State 
v. M i l ler, 92 Wn . App. 693, 703, 964 P .2d 1 1 96 ( 1 998). The court's oral ruling is 
sufficient to allow review. 

1 6  
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Burchette was identifying an acquaintance she was fami l iar with , not an ind ividua l  

she knew on ly from witnessing a crime. Substantial evidence supported the tria l  

court's factual find i ngs ,  and the find ings support the conclusion McGee's due 

process rights were not violated by admitt ing Burchette's identification of McGee . 8 

Reversed and remanded . 

WE CONCUR:  

8 Because of  our d isposition ,  i t  is  not necessary to reach McGee's remain ing 
assignments of error. 
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